IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ORANGE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

CASE NO: SC01-382 5DCA CASE NO: 5D00-1728

V.

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORPORATION, a Washington corporation,

| Respondent. | |
|-------------|---|
| | / |
| | |
| | |

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

JAMES F. PAGE, JR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 143466 G. ROBERTSON DILG, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 362281 GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON, P.A. Post Office Box 3068 Orlando, Florida 32802-3068 Telephone: (407) 843-8880

Fax: (407) 244-5690

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | <u>Page</u> |
|--------------------|---|
| TABLE OF AUT | THORITIES iv |
| PRELIMINARY | STATEMENT ix |
| STATEMENT O | F THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE |
| SUMMARY OF | THE ARGUMENTS 9 |
| STANDARD OF | REVIEW ON APPEAL |
| ARGUMENTS C | OF LAW |
| ACC FLO TO I | ANGE COUNTY IS AUTHORIZED UNDER POWERS CORDED IT BY THE TWENTY-FIRST AMENDMENT, THE PRIDA BEVERAGE LAW AND ITS OWN POLICE POWERS PROHIBIT THE SALE OF PACKAGE LIQUORS WITHIN 0 FEET OF AN EXISTING PACKAGE LIQUOR STORE 14 Both This Court and Federal Courts Have Consistently Recognized the Authority of Local Governments to Establish Distance Separation Requirements as a Means of Regulating the Sale of Alcoholic Beverages |
| В. | The Trial Court Correctly Recognized that the Greater Power of Orange County to Prohibit the Sale of Alcoholic Beverages Includes the Lesser Power to Prohibit the Sale of Package Alcoholic Beverages in Certain Locations of the County 21 |
| C. | The Imposition of a 5,000-Foot Distance Separation Requirement Was Neither Arbitrary Nor Capricious 23 |

| | II. | ORANGE COUNTY'S DISTANCE SEPARATION REQUIREMENT DOES NOT VIOLATE ANY CITIZEN'S RIGHT | | |
|-----|-------|--|--------------|---|
| | | | - | L PROTECTION |
| | | A. | Pack Requ | ause It Creates No Classifications of Persons Eligible to Sell rage Liquors At a Given Location, the Distance Separation uirement Cannot be Violative of The Equal Protection ase |
| | | B. | Cour in D | n If An Equal Protection Issue Was Present, The District rt of Appeal Erred in Applying A Substantial Relation Test etermining the Constitutionality of the Distance Separation uirement |
| | | | 1. | The District Court of Appeal Erred in Failing to Consider the Appropriate Test for Determining the Constitutionality of Orange County's Distance Separation Requirement. 30 |
| | | | 2. | Because the Distance Separation Requirement Does Not Involve a Suspect Classification or a Fundamental Right, its Constitutionality Should Have Been Determined by the Rational Relation Test |
| | | C. | Rela Asso | ause the Distance Separation Requirement Is Rationally ated to Minimizing Undesirable Secondary Effects ociated with the Sale of Package Liquors, It Does Not ate the Equal Protection Clause |
| | III. | | | CANNOT EFFECTIVELY REPEAL LEGISLATION BECAUSE THEY BELIEVE IT TO BE OUTDATED 43 |
| CON | NCLUS | SION | | |
| CER | TIFIC | ATE (| OF SE | RVICE |
| CER | TIFIC | ATE (| OF CC | OMPLIANCE 48 |
| | | | | |

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

| <u>Page(s)</u> |
|---|
| Beauharnais v. Illinois, 343 U.S. 250 (1952) |
| Bullock v. Carter, 405 U.S. 134 (1972) |
| <u>California v. LaRue</u> , 409 U.S. 109 (1972) |
| <u>City of Dallas v. Stanglin</u> , 490 U.S. 26 (1989) |
| <u>City of New Orleans v. Dukes</u> , 427 U.S. 297 (1976) |
| <u>City of Newport v. Iacobucci</u> , 479 U.S. 92 (1996) |
| <u>City of Renton v. Playtime Theatres, Inc.</u> , 475 U.S. 41 (1986) 17, 18, 21 |
| <u>Clark v. Jeter</u> , 486 U.S. 456 (1988) |
| Coalition for Economic Equity v. Wilson, 122 F.3d 692 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 963 (1997) |
| <u>Cronin v. Adams</u> , 192 U.S. 108 (1904) |
| <u>Crowley v. Christensen</u> , 137 U.S. 86 (1890) |
| <u>Daniel v. Family Sec. Life Ins. Co.</u> , 336 U.S. 220 (1949) |
| FCC v. Beach Communications, Inc., 508 U.S. 307 (1993) |
| <u>Ferguson v. Skrupa</u> , 372 U.S. 726 (1963) |
| 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517 U.S. 484 (1996) 5, 7, 8, 22, 23 |
| <u>Graham v. Richardson</u> , 403 U.S. 365 (1971) |
| Harisiades v. Shaughnessy. 342 U.S. 580 (1952) |

| <u>Heller v. Doe</u> , 509 U.S. 312 (1993) |
|--|
| <u>Kahn v. Shevin</u> , 416 U.S. 351 (1974) |
| Lehnhausen v. Lake Shore Auto Parts Co., 410 U.S. 356 (1993) |
| <u>Lyng v. Automobile Workers</u> , 485 U.S. 360 (1988) |
| Massachusetts Bd. of Ret. v. Murgia, 427 U.S. 307 (1975) |
| <u>Mathews v. Lucas</u> , 427 U.S. 495 (1976) |
| <u>McGowan v. Maryland</u> , 366 U.S. 420 (1961) |
| <u>McLaughlin v. Florida</u> , 379 U.S. 184 (1964) |
| Mills v. Habluetzel, 456 U.S. 91 (1982) |
| Minnesota v. Clover Leaf Creamery Co., 449 U.S. 456 (1981) |
| Mississippi Univ. for Women v. Hogan, 458 U.S. 718 (1982) |
| New York State Liquor Auth. v. Bellanca, 452 U.S. 714 (1981) 16, 35 |
| Nordlinger v. Hahn, 505 U.S. 1 (1992) |
| Ohio ex rel. Lloyd v. Dollison, 194 U.S. 445 (1904) |
| Oyama v. California, 332 U.S. 633 (1948) |
| Patch Enterprises, Inc. v. McCall, 447 F. Supp. 1075 (M.D. Fla. 1978) 44 |
| Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973) |
| San Antonio Indep. School Dist. v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 1 (1973) 30, 35 |
| <u>Shapiro v. Thompson</u> , 394 U.S. 618 (1969) |

| Skinner v. Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson, 316 U.S. 535 (1942) 30 |
|---|
| <u>Spudich v. Smarr</u> , 931 F.2d 1278 (8th Cir. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u> , 502 U.S. 866 (1991) |
| State Bd. of Equalization of California v. Young's Mkt. Co., 299 U.S. 59 (1936) |
| United States of America v. Figueroa, 984 F. Supp. 71 (D.P.R. 1997) 22 |
| <u>Vance v. Bradley</u> , 440 U.S. 93 (1979) |
| Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365 (1926) 6 |
| Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23 (1968) |
| Young v. American Mini Theatres, Inc., 427 U.S. 50 (1976) 17, 18, 25 |
| Ziffrin, Inc. v. Reeves, 308 U.S. 132 (1939) |
| STATE CASES |
| <u>Agrico Chemical Co. v. State</u> , 365 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied sub nom.</u> <u>Askew v. Agrico Chemical Co.</u> , 376 So. 2d 74 (1979) . 24 |
| American Bankers Life Assur. Co. of Fla. v. Williams, 212 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968) |
| <u>Chaikin v. City of Miami</u> , 30 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 1947) 8, 10, 11, 13, 19, 20 |
| <u>City of Batavia v. Allen, 578 N.E.2d 597 (Ill.2d Dist. 1991)</u> |
| City of Miami v. State ex. rel. Green, 180 So. 45 (Fla. 1938) |
| <u>City of Miami v. Kichinko</u> , 22 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 1945) |
| City of Miami Beach v. State ex rel. Patrician Hotel Co., 200 So. 213 (Fla. 1941) |

| <u>Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Orange County</u> , 780 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) |
|--|
| <u>Davis v. Sails</u> , 318 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) |
| <u>Dixie Inn, Inc. v. City of Miami</u> , 24 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 1946) 8, 13, 18, 19, 20 |
| Eichenbaum v. Cochran, 114 So. 2d 797 (Fla. 1959) 8, 13, 20, 26, 39, 40, 44 |
| First Presbyterian Church of Miami v. Fuller, 182 So. 888 (Fla. 1938) |
| <u>First Presbyterian Church of Miami v. Fuller</u> , 183 So. 726 (Fla. 1938) |
| <u>First Presbyterian Church of Miami v. Fuller</u> , 187 So. 148 (Fla. 1938) |
| <u>Glackman v. City of Miami Beach</u> , 51 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1951) |
| Griffin v. State, 396 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 1981) |
| Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n., Inc. v. Dept. of Bus. Regulation, 441 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 1983) |
| Horsemen's Benevolent and Protective Ass'n., Fla. Div. v. Div. of Pari- Mutuel Wagering, Dept. of Bus. Regulations, 397 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1981) |
| McAuliffe v. Mayor of New Bedford, 29 N.E. 517 (Mass. 1892) 22 |
| Osterndorf v. Turner, 426 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1982) |
| Prices Corner Liquors, Inc. v. Delaware Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n., 1995 Del. Super. LEXIS 520 (1995) |
| Skaggs-Albertson's v. ABC Liquors, Inc., 363 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1978) 21 |

| Village of Tequesta v. Loxahatchee River Environ. Control Dist., 714 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) |
|---|
| CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS |
| Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution |
| Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution |
| Twenty First Amendment to the United States Constitution |
| STATE STATUTES |
| Section 561.44, <i>Florida Statutes</i> |
| Section 562.45(2), <i>Florida Statutes</i> |
| LOCAL ORDINANCES |
| Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 8 |
| Subsection 38-1414(b) of the Orange County Code |

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Orange County, Florida, was an Appellee before the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, and a Defendant before the trial court. It will be referred to in this brief as "Orange County." Respondent, Costco Wholesale Corporation, was the Appellant before the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, and the Plaintiff before the trial court. It will be referred to in this brief as "Costco." ABC Liquors, Inc. and Issa "Chris" Safar d/b/a Liquor Plus were granted intervenor status as Defendants and were Appellees below.

Citations to the record will be cited as "R-" followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to the trial transcript of May 3, 2000, will be cited as "TR-" followed by the appropriate page and line number. Citations to Costco's Initial Brief filed with the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, will be cited as "IB-" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The sole issue before this Court, as it was before the courts below, is the constitutional validity of Subsection 38-1414(b) of the Orange County Code, which prohibits any new or relocated package liquor sale vendor from opening or starting a business of package liquor sales within 5,000 feet of an established, licensed, package liquor sale vendor's place of business. Section 38-1414 was first adopted by the Orange County Board of County Commissioners in 1956. It was repealed in 1964, but was readopted in 1966. It was amended in 1992 and 1993.

As articulated in Subsection 38-1414(c):

The purpose of creating the distance requirements mentioned in subsection (b) of this section is to provide and require that no package sale vendor which is located or proposes to locate in the unincorporated portion of the county outside of any municipality shall be permitted to operate at a new location within a distance of five thousand (5,000) feet of the location of any package sale vendor which is both (i) established, existing and licensed at the time of the package sale vendor's application to operate at the new location and (ii) located in any area of the county either unincorporated or within a municipality in the county.

At trial, Costco withdrew both its facial and its "as applied" challenge to the validity of the ordinance. TR-112, IB-18. Because this case involves a facial challenge to that provision, there are no relevant "as applied" facts. The only relevant evidence is the ordinance itself. The factual background of the case is, however, set forth in the decision below, <u>Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Orange County</u>, 780 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

The ordinance was adopted as part of a general zoning plan by which Orange County used the distance separation requirement to disperse package liquor sale vendors' places of business, so as to prevent the concentration of such establishments in what could become "combat zones," while, at the same time, prohibiting any further dispersion of such establishments by concentrating them in areas zoned for commercial uses where such businesses are permissible. R-101.

At trial, Edward Williams, who had been the director of the Orange County Planning Department at the time all Orange County ordinances were readopted and consolidated into one code (TR-40-42), testified that the purpose of the ordinance was to provide a balance between the desired use and the desirability of protecting residential districts. He also noted that the distance separation requirement represents approximately a one-mile radius, which is "typically the distance for a primary market for a store or facility of this nature." TR-49. Such a distance provides residents enough opportunity to use such facilities without allowing them to become so dense that they become a problem. <u>Id</u>.

The purpose of Section 38-1414 was not to protect the economic interests of package liquor store owners, but to have a reasonable buffer and distance between their businesses. TR-50. According to Mr. Williams, the problem with aggregating such businesses was not an evil inherent in the stores themselves but

primarily the secondary effects associated with those stores. Mr. Williams testified that allowing such stores in close proximity "lowers residential property values and creates an extraordinary amount of traffic in and about those residential areas." TR-55. There are also activities typically associated with package stores, such as drinking in their parking lots, fights, and driving while intoxicated. TR-56. Thus, "[s]preading them out while allowing sufficient opportunity to accommodate the need for them was our [the County's] primary objective." Id. According to Mr. Williams, "spreading them out seemed to minimize the adverse impacts associated with such uses, while allowing them to congregate seemed to create an impact greater than the number of uses." TR-58.

The ordinance in question affects only the unincorporated areas of Orange County. There was no testimony that the ordinance unduly restricts the number of package stores. The parties stipulated that there are currently 65 licenses (designated as 3PS) specifically for package liquor stores issued in unincorporated Orange County. R-101. There are also currently 149 businesses within the unincorporated areas which hold licenses designated as 4COP that permit the sale of package alcoholic beverages. <u>Id.</u> Of these businesses, only approximately 12 are unable to offer package sales because of the 5,000-foot distance separation requirement. R-101-102.

At trial, Mr. Williams noted that Orange County is different from other jurisdictions in that it has "more commercial acreage per thousand population than just about any other jurisdiction in the country." TR-42-43. At the time the ordinance was reenacted in 1992, the County had over 8,000 acres zoned commercial where package liquor stores could be located, with an additional 7,000 acres projected by the year 2010. TR-43. According to Mr. Williams, "there were more than enough opportunities to accommodate and provide reasonable use" for package liquor stores. TR-43-44. For that reason, Mr. Williams did not feel the ordinance was overly restrictive. TR-45.

Furthermore, within many of the incorporated areas of Orange County, such as Orlando or Winter Park, there are few, if any, restrictions, thus providing ample areas for locating package liquor stores. Mitch Gordon, Acting Zoning Director of Orange County, testified by affidavit: "At no time have I been told that there is an insufficient supply of package stores in Orange County or that they are located in areas that inconvenienced the shopping public." R-70.

Upon conclusion of the evidence, the trial court granted judgment in favor of Orange County, holding:

The right of the County to regulate locations that sell alcoholic beverages is grounded in Section 562.45(2), *Florida Statutes*, and is clearly related to the health, safety and welfare of its citizens. Glackman v. City of Miami Beach, 51 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1951).

Inasmuch as Orange County clearly has the authority under state law to completely prohibit the sale of alcohol in Orange County, it logically follows that the County has the power to prescribe any separation distance it chooses, be it 500 feet, 2,500 feet, 5,000 feet, 10,000 feet, or even greater, with regard to the separation of package goods vendors.

The Supreme Court of Florida has upheld numerous distance regulations between vendors selling alcoholic beverages. While the 5,000 foot restriction in Section 38-1414 is longer than those approved by the Supreme Court of Florida, nothing before this Court has demonstrated that the 5,000 foot restriction is arbitrary and capricious or unrelated to the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Orange County.

R-256-257.

On appeal, Costco relied heavily on the United States Supreme Court's decision in 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517 U.S. 484 (1996). In that case, the Court held that the greater right to completely ban the sale of alcoholic beverages cannot be expanded to permit a state to impose unconstitutional restrictions on protected speech. According to Costco, that decision necessarily meant that the County, despite having the greater right to completely ban the sale of alcoholic beverages, did not have the lesser right to prohibit the sale of packaged liquors in areas of the County where such sales are deemed undesirable. Second, Costco essentially argued that a court should strike down legislative enactments when, in the opinion of the court, they become outdated, even if it means ignoring

the doctrine of *stare decisis*. At no time did Costco raise an argument based on a denial of its right to equal protection of the laws.

The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, however, applied an equal protection analysis and reversed. Costco, 780 So. 2d at 198. Ignoring the uniquely broad powers accorded local governments to regulate the sale of alcoholic beverages, and equally ignoring the fact that no landowner has a right to sell package alcoholic beverages at any given location, the district court of appeal characterized the case as one involving "the balance between a landowner's constitutionally protected property rights and the police powers of a county." <u>Id.</u> at 200. The court treated the case as if it involved a standard zoning issue as to "the constitutional right of property owners to make legitimate use of the property" (Id. at 201) and held that unless it bore a "substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare,' the ordinance should be declared unconstitutional." Id. (citing Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, 395 (1926)). The court also held that, because the distance separation requirement "impacts constitutionally-protected rights," the County "carries the burden of demonstrating the reasonable [sic] relationship." Costco, 780 So. 2d at 203-204.

The court then questioned the testimony of Mr. Williams, found his testimony wanting and rejected it as insufficient to show a substantial relationship between the distance separation requirement and the County's police powers. The court never asked whether there might have been other reasons for the distance separation requirement. Instead, the court opined that "if Orange County permits some vendors to sell alcoholic beverages, then it must permit all citizens to have an equal right unless there is a reason substantially related to the public health, safety, morals, and welfare of the community which justifies unequal treatment of the law." <u>Id.</u> at 203. Finally, the court applied the United States Supreme Court's decision in 44 Liquormart, 517 U.S. at 484, and held that "just because a product is a 'vice' product or otherwise heavily regulated, it does not mean that the states are free to regulate a legal product in such a manner as to trample organic constitutional rights." <u>Id.</u> The court cited no support for its assumption that the right to sell package liquors at a given location was an "organic constitutional right." The court made no reference whatsoever to this Court's previous decisions which uniformly upheld distance separation requirements.

In a concurring opinion, Judge Harris reiterated the majority's premise that "all similarly situated persons are equal under the law and must be treated alike and, therefore, that all citizens (natural persons or corporations) located within the same

zoning classification should have the same right to apply for a license authorizing the off-site sale of liquor at the XYZ Liquor Store located two blocks away <u>unless</u> the zoning prohibition has a substantial relationship to public health and safety." Id. Judge Harris cited no provision in Section 38-1414 which prohibited anyone from applying for a license to sell package liquor in those areas where such sales are permitted. Although Judge Harris made an oblique reference to previous decisions of this Court, he dismissed them as seeming "to focus on the question whether the zoning entity has the authority to enforce distance restrictions." <u>Id.</u> at 204. Judge Harris distinguished the instant case by saying the question here is "whether the 5,000-foot restriction imposed by Orange County actually has a substantial relationship to public health and safety." <u>Id.</u>

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