## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ORANGE COUNTY, a political		
subdivision of the State of Florida,	CASE NO.: SC01-382	
Petitioner,		
	5 <sup>th</sup> DCA Case No. 5D00-1728	
v.		
COSTCO WHOLESALE CORP., a Washington Corporation,		
Respondent.		
ANSWER I	BRIEF OF	
COSTCO WHOI	LESALE CORP.	
On review from t	he District Court	
of Appeal, F	ifth District	
State of	Florida	
<del></del>		
	SCOTT A. GLASS, ESQ.	
	Florida Bar No. 0911364	

SHUTTS & BOWEN, LLP

**300 South Orange Avenue** 

**Suite 1000** 

# Orlando, FL 32801

Tel: 407-423-3200 Fax: 407-425-8316

## **

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Despite the contrary representation in Petitioner's Initial Brief, this case is not now, nor has it ever been, about whether Orange County has the police power to regulate the location of liquor stores. Clearly it does. Moreover, Costco has never challenged that power and the power to reasonably regulate remains unscathed by the district court opinion. The district court merely reaffirmed the rule, as

articulated by both the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court, that any exercise of the police power must be accomplished within the framework of substantive due process and equal protection parameters, In other words, the police power cannot be exercised arbitrarily or capriciously.

In the instant case, a case which does not conflict with existing precedent nor call into question any issue of state-wide significance, the sole issue was and remains, whether Orange County's 5000 foot separation distance between liquor stores is substantially and reasonably related to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare. The district court thoroughly reviewed the record and found that there was no reasonable relationship between the separation distance and a legitimate government goal. Despite Orange County's heroic efforts to turn this case into something it is not, it really is that simple.

Among the County's efforts to turn this case into a case of constitutional significance is its argument that the 21st Amendment to the U.S. Constitution effectively trumps a citizen's right to due process under the 14th Amendment. This argument has been regularly rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court for the past 25 years. Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190 (1976).

The 21st Amendment was intended to insulate "dry" states against commerce clause claims for impeding interstate commerce when they prohibit the importation

of alcoholic beverages across state lines. It was not intended to give states plenary power to regulate alcohol. 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 51 U.S. 484 (1996). Despite the County's <u>ipse dixit</u> pronouncement to the contrary, the 21st Amendment does not give the County "extraordinary" police powers. <u>Park Benziger & Co. v. Southern Wine, Etc.</u>, 391 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1980)(fact that intoxicating beverages is the subject matter of legislation does not automatically make such legislation valid, and such an act must fall if it violates a constitutional prohibition).

The County also argues that the district court applied the stricter substantial relationship test when it should have applied a mere rational basis test. If §38-1414(b) involved only an adjustment of economic interests, the County would be correct. See, Dept. of Insurance v. Dade County Consumer Adv., 492 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986). This case, however, involves a zoning regulation and impacts directly upon private property. Accordingly, the County's position is contrary to the prior decisions of both the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court. See, Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365 (1926); City of Miami Beach v.

Lachman, 71 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1953). While not affording property rights the same strict scrutiny review that is accorded other fundamental rights, both the U.S.

Supreme Court and this Court have recognized that something greater than a mere

rational basis test is appropriate when property rights are involved. This, "something greater," is the substantial relationship test.

In the instant case, a review of the record shows that not only does the 5000 foot separation distance not have a reasonable and substantial relationship to a legitimate government interest, it actually has no relationship whatsoever to such an interest. In fact, the district court properly recognized that Costco had presented evidence which negated any conceivable rational basis for the regulation and the record evidence showed that the only plausible basis for the ordinance is to protect existing liquor stores from competition. This, of course, is not a legitimate zoning goal. Both the substantial relationship and legitimate interest prongs must be upheld for an exercise of the police power to be constitutional.

Moreover, while the primary basis for the district court's decision was the substantive due process provisions of the 14th Amendment, the court below also correctly noted that the County's regulation violated the equal protection clause as well. Specifically, the court noted that the ordinance creates two distinct classes without any rational basis. One class is a class of property owners who can use their property to sell a totally legal product (alcohol). The second class is a class of property owners who, because of the County's arbitrary and capricious efforts to protect existing liquor operators, cannot. The district court appropriately relied

on the same evidence that showed no reasonable and substantial relationship under its substantive due process analysis to reach the conclusion that there was also no justification for the ordinance under the minimal rational basis standard of the equal protection clause.

The County further argued below, and continues to argue here, that a zoning regulation only has to have a rational relationship to a legitimate goal when adopted. Thereafter, the county asserts, the regulation is forever insulated from constitutional challenge. Again, this argument has been rightfully rejected by both the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court. Palazzolo v. Rhode Island, 533 U.S. \_\_\_\_, Slip Op. No. 99-2047 (June 28, 2001); Mayo v. Florida Grapefruit Growers' Protective Ass'n., 151 So. 25 (Fla. 1933).

Finally, the County contends that the sole remedy for a citizen who's constitutional rights have been trampled by a regulation is to seek change through the political process. According to the County the courts have no role beyond echoing the legislature's chant of "police power, police power." The irrationality of the 5000 foot separation distance in this case is exceeded only by the irrationality of this argument.

While courts rightfully should be hesitant to second guess legislative wisdom, when constitutional rights are at stake the courts have a constitutional duty

to step in and review the legislature's actions. It is this very system of checks and balances that anchors our constitutional republic. To hold that a citizen's only remedy for a constitutional deprivation is to go hat in hand to the very body denying the constitutional right in the first place would be to effectively subject the rights of the minority to the caprice of the majority. Our Constitution is constructed to prevent this very thing from happening.

The district court recognized the fallacies of the County's arguments, rejected them, and properly held the 5000 foot separation distance to be arbitrary, capricious, and unconstitutional. This Court should do no less.

### **ARGUMENT**

Despite Appellant's characterization of the district court's opinion in this case, neither the Appellee nor the district court ever asserted that there is a constitutional right, let alone a fundamental constitutional right, to sell alcoholic beverages. The fundamental right involved in this case, as recognized by the district court, is the fundamental right of every property owner to use his or her property for legitimate purposes free from arbitrary government regulation. This right is commonly known as the right to substantive due process and derives from the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution and from Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

There are several levels of scrutiny which the courts use to determine whether a regulation is arbitrary under substantive due process analysis. The lowest of these levels is the rational basis standard. Under this standard, a regulation will be upheld if there is any rational relationship between it and a legitimate government objective.

In the instant case, the County, argues that there is an even lower standard available to it when it adopts a regulation pertaining to alcoholic beverages. The County insists that, because of the 21<sup>st</sup> Amendment, the County is free to adopt any regulation pertaining to alcohol without having to give any consideration as to whether such regulation is reasonable or arbitrary under the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment.

I. PETITIONER'S CLAIM THAT THE 21<sup>ST</sup> AMENDMENT TRUMPS THE 14<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT AND RAISES THE COUNTY'S POLICE POWER TO A POSITION SUPERIOR TO A CITIZENS' CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE FREE OF ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS REGULATION IS INCORRECT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The County claims that the 21<sup>st</sup> Amendment gives the County "extraordinary" powers to regulate alcohol. County's I.B. at 14, <u>et seq</u>. It argues that its alcohol regulations are entitled as a matter of law to an extra presumption of validity. According to the County, this extra presumption means the County doesn't even have to satisfy the rational basis test, let alone the substantial

relationship test prescribed for zoning regulations in <u>Euclid</u>, <u>supra</u>.<sup>5</sup> The County's argument, however, is founded on a position the U.S. Supreme Court abandoned almost immediately as historically inaccurate and analytically incorrect.

A. The 21st Amendment was intended only to exempt state regulation of alcohol from the effects of the dormant commerce clause and the states must still comply with all other constitutional provision and protections when regulating alcohol.

The cornerstone of the County's appeal is §2 of the 21st Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Section 2 provides that:

The transportation or importation into any State, Territory, or possession of the United States for delivery or use therein of intoxicating liquors, in violation of the laws thereof, is hereby prohibited.

The County asserts that this provision enhances the police power of states and local governments when it comes to the regulation of alcoholic beverages and, conversely, reduces the substantive due process standard for gauging the constitutionality of such regulation. The County supports this contention with a quote from the 1972 U.S. Supreme Court case, <u>California v. LaRue</u>, where the court stated that, "the broad sweep of the Twenty-first Amendment has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Counsel for Orange County and counsel for Intervenors raised the "added presumption of validity" argument at trial based on language in <u>California v. LaRue</u>, 409 U.S. 109 (1972). Tr. 38-39, 80-81. The trial court implicitly accepted the argument and the County again raised the argument before the district court. The district court rejected the argument without discussion.

recognized as conferring something more than the normal state authority over public health, welfare and morals." 409 U.S. 109, 114 (1972). What the County doesn't note, however, is that the Supreme Court retreated from this unfortunate over-statement a mere three years later and acknowledged that the intent of §2 was merely to exempt state liquor regulations from the normal operation of the Commerce Clause. Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190 (1976).

In <u>Boren</u>, the Court considered an equal protection challenge to an Oklahoma statute which set different drinking ages for males and females.

Oklahoma argued that it had plenary power to regulate alcoholic beverages under the 21st Amendment and that, therefore, the normal equal protection analysis should not apply and the lower, rational basis test should be used. This argument was clearly rejected by the Supreme Court, which stated:

This Court's decisions ... have confirmed that the Amendment primarily created an exception to the normal operation of the Commerce Clause. (Citations omitted) ... . Once passing beyond consideration of the Commerce Clause, the relevance of the Twenty-first Amendment to other constitutional provisions becomes increasingly doubtful. As one commentator has remarked, "Neither

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Commerce Clause provides that, "Congress shall have Power ... [t]o regulate Commerce with foreign Nations and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes." U.S. Const., Art. I, sec. 8, cl. 3. Courts have read the Commerce Clause to also limit the power of the States to erect barriers against interstate trade. See, e.g., Lewis v. BT Investment Managers, Inc.,447 U.S. 27 (1980). This implicit restriction is often referred to as the Dormant Commerce Clause.

the text nor the history of the Twenty-first Amendment, suggests that it qualifies individual rights protected by the Bill of Rights and the Fourteenth Amendment where the sale or use of liquor is concerned." (Citation omitted.)

Amendment to regulations directly impacting upon the importation of intoxicants is "transparently clear," and such regulations warrant, "only the mildest review under the Fourteenth Amendment." 429 U.S. at 207 (citations omitted). However, the Court continued, cases involving individual rights protected by the Due Process Clause, must be treated in sharp contrast. <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Wisconsin v. Constantineau</u>, 400 U.S.433 (1971)(21st Amendment found not to qualify the scope of plaintiff's due process rights to object to statute which had been on the books for 40 years and which allowed sheriff to designate certain persons as "excessive drinkers" and post such persons' names at liquor stores to prevent the sale or gift of alcohol to such persons).

The Supreme Court again rejected the 21st Amendment trump card argument in Capital Cities Cable, Inc. v. Crisp, 467 U.S. 691(1984). In Capital Cities, the Court decided that an Oklahoma regulation pertaining to the advertising of alcoholic beverages was pre-empted by regulations promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission. Oklahoma again argued that, while other state

regulations may be subject to a standard pre-emption analysis, the fact that this regulation was adopted pursuant to the 21st Amendment rescued it from pre-emption. The Supreme Court acknowledged that states enjoy broad power under the 21st Amendment to regulate the importation and use of alcoholic beverages within their borders. The Court went on, however, to point out that, "the Amendment does not license the States to ignore their obligations under other provisions of the Constitution." 467 U.S. at 712. See also, Larkin v. Grendel's Den, Inc., 459 U.S. 116 (1982).

The Court went even further in 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517

U.S. 484 (1996) where it stated, "without questioning the holding of LaRue, we now disavow its reasoning insofar as it relied on the Twenty-first Amendment."

517 U.S. at 516. The Court specifically noted that the 21st Amendment does not in any way diminish the supremacy clause, the establishment clause, the equal protection clause, or First Amendment rights as it was intended only to provide an exception to the commerce clause to allow "dry" states to prohibit the importation of alcohol across state lines without being threatened with suits charging restraint of interstate trade. Id. See also, Park Benziger & Co. v. Southern Wine, Etc., 391

So.2d 681 (Fla. 1980)(fact that intoxicating beverages is the subject matter of legislation does not automatically make such legislation valid, and such an act must

fall if it violates a constitutional prohibition).

B. The district court correctly concluded that the fact that the County has the right to ban the sale of alcohol does not give the County the right to ignore constitutional protections against arbitrary regulations when it adopts lesser alcohol regulations.

The County urges this Court to reject the well reasoned opinion of the district court and to adopt the rationale relied upon by the trial court. This rationale was the simplistic and seemingly logical conclusion that, because the County can completely prohibit the sale of alcoholic beverages it is free to adopt any lesser regulation regardless of whether there is any rational basis for such lesser regulation. However, as recognized by the district court, this seemingly simple syllogism cannot be applied so cavalierly when a citizen's constitutionally protected rights are at stake.

The trial court was seduced by the simple rule: the greater includes the lesser. As with most rules, however, there are exceptions. Sometimes the rule's deceptive simplicity makes it easy to overlook the exceptions. In fact, in 1986 the U.S. Supreme Court itself succumbed to the temptation to dispose of a case using this appealing little rule. In <u>Posadas de Puerto Rico Associates v. Tourism Co. of P.R.</u>, 478 U.S. 328 (1986), a case involving a ban on casino advertising, the Court stated that "the greater power to completely ban casino gambling necessarily

includes the lesser power to ban advertising of casino gambling." 478 U.S. at 345-346. The Court also stated that, "because the government could have enacted a wholesale prohibition of [casino gambling] it is permissible for the government to take the less intrusive step of allowing the conduct but reducing the demand through restrictions on advertising." <u>Id</u>. If this case were still good law, the County would have prevailed below.

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